APPETITE REGULATION BY GUT PEPTIDES

John E. Morley

Geriatric Research Education and Clinical Center, St. Louis Veterans Administration Medical Center; and Division of Geriatric Medicine, St. Louis University, St. Louis, Missouri 63104

KEY WORDS: cholecystokinin, satietin, bombesin, glucagon, somatostatin

CONTENTS

PHYSIOLOGICAL EVIDENCE FOR THE PRESENCE OF CIRCULATING SATIETY FACTORS	384
CHOLECYSTOKININ: THE PROTOTYPIC PERIPHERAL SATIETY HORMONE	385
CHOLECYSTOKININ, FEEDING, AND MEMORY	388
OTHER GUT HORMONES AND FEEDING	389
PANCREATIC HORMONES	390
THE ILEUM AND SATIETY	390
SATIETINS	391
INTERACTIONS	391
Peripheral Interactions	391 391
GUT PEPTIDES AND ENERGY METABOLISM	
SUMMARY	392

It is generally accepted that food ingestion is regulated by a central feeding drive that is held in check by a peripheral satiety system during meal feedings (41). The major component of the peripheral satiety system responsible for terminating a meal appears to be the release of gastrointestinal peptides in response to the passage of food through the gut. The central feeding drive system includes a number of anatomical sites such as the paraventricular and

ventromedial nuclei of the hypothalamus and structures associated with the fourth ventricle. Within these sites the interaction of a number of neurotransmitters including norepinephrine, dynorphin, and neuropeptide Y is believed to be responsible for the generation of the feeding drive (42). In addition to the short-term peripheral satiety system responsible for the termination of a meal, a longer-term peripheral satiety system includes the effects of absorbed nutrients and of hormones released from the ileum. A combination of all these factors is responsible for the regulation of food intake in a given individual.

PHYSIOLOGICAL EVIDENCE FOR THE PRESENCE OF CIRCULATING SATIETY FACTORS

In 1912 Carlson (8) and Cannon & Washburn (7) suggested that gastric distension was responsible for the initiation of satiety. Animals with fistulas that prevent food from entering the stomach eat continuously. In 1949, Janowitz & Grossman (28) found that distension of a balloon in the stomach of a dog resulted in satiety. Infusion of 4 to 8 cc of a liquid diet into a transplanted extra stomach in a rat results in reduced food intake, thus demonstrating that signals from a totally denervated stomach can alter food intake (30). These results show that humoral factors play a role in producing stomach satiety. In rhesus monkeys, the stomach can monitor caloric content of food and regulate food intake based on its caloric content (38). In humans pentoses have less caloric content than hexoses but are much greater inhibitors of gastric emptying (57). Xylitol preload not only markedly suppressed gastric emptying but also decreased food intake in humans (58). Inhibition of food intake by the stomach occurs when the stomach is distended at least 20% in excess of normal size during food intake.

In parabiosis experiments, when the duodenum of one rat is connected to the stomach of another rat, feeding the second rat leads to a decrease in food eaten by the rat whose duodenum is exposed to the food, which suggests that food in the intestine results in satiety (32). Distention of the duodenum by infusion of nonnutritive foods leads to decreased food intake (12), and a further decrease in food intake was produced by the addition of nutrients to the perfusate (16). Cross-perfusion of rats has shown that the unfed rat will eat much less than normal when cross-perfused with the blood of a fed rat (13). Parabiosis of normal rats to rats with ventromedial hypothalamic lesions resulted in decreased food ingestion by the normal rat and may be due to overproduction of circulating satiety factors.

These studies support the concept that the release of hormones from the stomach and intestine helps modulate food intake.

CHOLECYSTOKININ: THE PROTOTYPIC PERIPHERAL SATIETY HORMONE

Cholecystokinin (CCK), a 33-amino-acid hormone, was first isolated from the gastrointestinal tract by Mutt & Jorpes in 1971 (49). CCK has multiple effects on the gastrointestinal tract and the central nervous system. The history of CCK as a satiety hormone predates its isolation. In 1937 MacLagan (36) showed that crude duodenal extract, which contains CCK, decreases food intake. Similar findings were reported by Ugolev & Kassil (69) in 1961 and Schally et al (55) in 1967. The first attempt to demonstrate that a highly purified CCK preparation decreased appetite was by Glick et al (25) in 1971. Although they concluded that CCK-pancreozymin did not statistically suppress food intake in rats, their results demonstrated a clear trend towards suppression of food intake. The following year, Sjodin (63) reported that CCK decreased food intake in dogs. In 1973, Gibbs et al (24) reported that the biologically active form of CCK, the sulfated octapeptide, reduced food intake in rats.

CCK has been shown to decrease food intake in multiple species (see 45 for a review). CCK appears to be more potent when administered peripherally that when injected into the cerebral ventricles in most but not all species tested. These findings suggest that the major site of action for the satiety effect of CCK is peripheral, rather than central. In addition, intraperitoneal injections produce greater satiety than subcutaneous, intravenous, or intraportal injections. Thus the satiety response elicited by CCK is likely related to the effect of CCK on the gastrointestinal tract or on a closely related structure, the vagus.

Transection of the vagus nerve trunk inhibits the satiety effect of CCK at low (65), but not high, doses (19). Selective gastric, but not coeliac, vagotomy also removes the ability of CCK to inhibit food intake (65). Lesioning of the afferent vagal nerve fascicles where they enter the spinal cord also attenuates the effect of CCK on food intake (66). The vagus nerve contains CCK receptors (75), and thus CCK may activate the vagus directly in a paracrine manner. Alternatively, CCK receptors also exist in the pylorus of the stomach, and CCK may activate ascending vagal fibers indirectly and secondary to its effects on the pryolic musculature. Capsaicin, which damages vagal afferents, inhibits the ability of CCK to decrease food intake (53).

Direct connections between the peripheral vagus nerve and the central nervous system have been demonstrated by electrical stimulation studies. Dyball & Koizumi (15) found that paraventricular unit activity can be modulated by electrical stimulation of the central stump of the vagus. In addition, peripheral administration of CCK-8S activates ascending vagal fibers and induces electrical activity in the nucleus tractus solitarius (17). The terminal

fields of gastric vagal afferent neurons project onto the nucleus tractus solitarius in the medulla, and lesions of this area inhibit the satiety effect of peripherally administered CCK (70).

Whether the satiety effect of CCK occurs within the nucleus tractus solitarius itself or whether the latter is merely a relay station sending messages to other central nervous system structures is unclear at the present time. Neuroanatomical studies have demonstrated direct projections from the nucleus tractus solitarius to the paraventricular, dorsomedial, and arcuate nuclei of the hypothalamus (52). Some studies have demonstrated that lesioning these pathways or the paraventricular nucleus of the hypothalamus will attenuate the effects of CCK on food intake (10, 11). On the other hand, despite using two different kinds of knife cuts, we were unable to duplicate the knife-cut studies (J. Steinman, M. Gunion, and J. E. Morley, unpublished observations).

Whether or not CCK produces true satiety and whether it is merely an aversive, rather than a toxic, agent is a matter of controversy. Much of the evidence that CCK produces aversion has come from studies using the conditioned taste aversion model. Although the results are somewhat controversial, CCK appears to be capable of producing a conditioned taste aversion (14). Unfortunately, so do a variety of other nonaversive substances including intraduodenal sesame oil and glucose, amphetamines, lorazepam, and even intravenous saline (see 5 for a review). This conditioned taste aversion can be used as a model for novelty learning, but it cannot be used to determine the aversive nature of other compounds. In the differential satiety model for aversion developed by Billington et al (5), they argue that as you increase the strength of the feeding drive (longer periods of starvation), true satiety agents become less effective at any given dose and aversive agents become equally disruptive regardless of the period of starvation. In their model, lithium chloride behaves as an aversive agent while CCK behaves as a true satiety agent. Recently, using a lever press apparatus and milk as a reward in a study of mice, we found a similar relationship between CCK and the state of hunger that confirmed that CCK is a true satiety agent (J. F. Flood and J. E. Morley, unpublished observations).

The effects of CCK in dietary selection studies are controversial. CCK has been shown to preferentially reduce either carbohydrate or fat, depending on the experimental paradigm (54). It seems that CCK may reduce food intake across the board and not demonstrate selectivity of any specific macronutrient. In addition, while CCK has been claimed to decrease food but not water intake, this selectivity appears to be both species and strain specific and has shown that CCK reduces water intake in a number of rodent strains.

The evidence that CCK is a physiological satiety agent is mounting.

- CCK decreases food intake without producing aversion (differential satiety model).
- Doses of CCK that reduce food intake are within the range expected for a paracrine effect.
- The lowest doses of intraperitoneal CCK that reduce feeding produce CCK levels of the same magnitude as those seen after feeding.
- L-phenylalamine, but not D-phenylalamine, decreases food intake and releases CCK.
- 5. Trypsin inhibitors release CCK and decrease feeding.
- 6. CCK antagonists increase food intake under certain conditions.

Although the dose of CCK required to inhibit feeding is five times higher than the dose required to stimulate pancreatic amylase secretion, one should not necessarily conclude that the effect of CCK on feeding is nonphysiological. In the case of food intake, CCK acted both as a paracrine and as a hormone to produce its effect on pancreatic secretion and gallbladder contraction. This concept is supported by the finding that the lowest doses of intraperitoneal CCK that decrease feeding produce circulating CCK levels of the same magnitude observed after feeding (64). L-phenylalanine and the trypsin inhibitor trasylol both release CCK and decrease food intake (23, 39). Use of the somewhat impure CCK antagonists proglumide and benzotript yielded inconsistent findings and the suggestion that food intake may increase when these antagonists are administered separately (60).

Recently, L-364,718, a highly selective and potent peptide antagonist of peripheral CCK receptors, has become available. In our studies L-364,718 reversed the ability of CCK-octapeptide to decrease food intake (62). It enhanced food consumption in both nonfasted and prefed mice. The number of reinforcements (a lever press was used) was also enhanced by L-364,718 compared with the results obtained with control mice. However, this agent did not enhance food intake in all paradigms. Together with other studies (1, 26), these results are compatible with the suggestion that cholecystokinin plays a physiological role in the regulation of food intake.

While the predominant effect of CCK on food intake is observed following peripheral injection, it should be remembered that CCK also affects food intake after central injection [in sheep the brain appears to be its predominant site of action (see 45 for a review)].

Intravenous CCK infusions have been shown to decrease food intake in lean and obese humans by 12 to 16% in a dosage of approximately 60 to 100 ng/kg (see 2 for a review). These doses do not appear to produce significant nausea. CCK-8S has failed to decrease feeding in vagotomized humans (59) or in a human with a lesion of the ventromedial hypothalamus (34). These

findings suggest that the pathways involved in CCK-induced satiety in humans may be similar to those observed in rodents.

The role of CCK in the binges associated with bulimia has been studied. Mitchell et al (40) reported that CCK-8 failed to limit the size of the binge. In the same set of studies the opioid antagonist naloxone did attenuate the size of the binge. This finding suggests that bulimic patients may be specifically nonresponsive to the satiety effect of CCK. In addition, CCK levels are suppressed in bulimic patients (21). These CCK levels returned to normal following antidepressant therapy. Thus abnormalities in the regulation of CCK may be involved in the pathogenesis of bulimia.

It is now well recognized that anorexia may develop with advancing age (48). In rodents, Silver et al (61) have found that the satiety effect of CCK is enhanced with advancing age. This observation is in keeping with the early satiety often present in older individuals. CCK may be involved in the pathophysiology of the anorexia of aging.

In summary, there is mounting evidence that the release of CCK from the gut is involved in the physiological termination of a meal. Preliminary studies suggest a role for CCK in the pathophysiology of bulimia and the anorexia of aging; further studies are needed to confirm these hypotheses.

CHOLECYSTOKININ, FEEDING, AND MEMORY

Feeding has long been recognized as a potent reward to reinforce learning. Until recently, however, the mechanism by which feeding enhanced memory retention had not been studied. Scientists now understand that food in the gut releases CCK, which transmits messages to the central nervous system via the afferent vagal fibers, and they hope to determine whether or not release of CCK plays a role in the enhanced memory retention associated with feeding. The hypothesis that CCK enhances memory retention is supported by the finding that direct anatomical projections connect the nucleus tractus solitarius to the amygdala (52) and that stimulation of the vagus alters activity of units in the central nucleus of the amygdala (51).

The demonstration that CCK injected intraperitoneally in the mouse enhanced memory retention and that this effect was blocked by vagotomy (19) provided further support for this hypothesis. Subsequent studies have shown that the enhanced memory retention seen in an aversive training paradigm following food administration can be inhibited by the specific CCK antagonist L-364,718 (18). We have previously suggested that a link may have evolved between the release of gastric peptides and memory processing in the central nervous system because of the survival advantages that accrue to an animal who can remember the details of a successful food-foraging expedition (19).

Hormone	Effect on food intake	Dependence or vagal nerve
Cholecystokinin	Decrease	Yes
Bombesin	Decrease	Partially
Gastrin-releasing peptide	Decrease	?
Somatostatin	Decrease or no effect	Yes
Litorin	Decrease	?
Motilin	Increase	?
Thyrotropin-releasing hormone	Decrease	Yes
Insulin	Increase	No
Glucagon	Decrease	Yes
Satietin	Decrease	?

Table 1 Gastrointestinal and pancreatic hormones that modulate food intake after peripheral administration^a

OTHER GUT HORMONES AND FEEDING

In addition to CCK, a number of other gastrointestinal hormones that are released during the passage of food through the gastrointestinal tract have been shown to modulate food intake (Table 1). Like CCK, many of these hormones also modulate food intake after injection into the central nervous system.

Bombesin, a tetradecapeptide originally isolated from frog skin, and its mammalian counterpart, gastrin releasing peptide (GRP), decrease food intake in rodents (42). Bombesin is less potent (on a molar basis) than CCK at reducing food intake (22). Subdiaphragmatic vagotomy fails to suppress the effect of bombesin on food intake (46). A combination of vagotomy and spinal visceral disconnection was shown to decrease the effect of bombesin on food intake (68). Bombesin decreased food intake in humans at doses below the threshold for nausea (50).

Somatostatin is a cyclic tetradecapeptide that reduces feeding in baboons and rats (35). Somatostatin is effective only in animals with very mild degrees of hunger (33). Vagotomy abolishes the effects of somatostatin on food intake (33). Feeding hydrolyzed gluten to humans results in a physiological increase in somatostatin (47). This physiological increase in somatostatin did not alter either food intake or appetite as measured on an analog scale.

Thyrotropin-releasing hormone (TRH) is present in the gastrointestinal tract and pancreas as well as in the brain (44). TRH decreases food intake after peripheral administration, and its effects appear to be vagally dependent (46).

a? = not studied.

Motilin is a 22-amino-acid peptide whose levels increase with feeding. Motilin administration enhances food intake, possibly secondary to its ability to increase the number of stomach contractions that promote gastric emptying and minimize gastric distension (9).

PANCREATIC HORMONES

In 1924 the ability of insulin to stimulate feeding in humans was demonstrated (3). The major sensor for the acute effect of insulin on feeding is the liver, and the effect of insulin on feeding can be blocked by vagotomy (42). Insulin can also enhance feeding by producing central glucoprivation.

A conundrum is that centrally administered insulin and very low doses of insulin administered by constant infusion peripherally inhibit feeding (71, 73). Insulin antibodies administered into the ventromedial hypothalamus will enhance feeding (67). Thus insulin like a number of other peptides, e.g. neuropeptide Y and beta-endorphin, appears to have opposite effects when administered peripherally or centrally. These findings have led to the development of the yin-yang theory of energy regulation. According to this theory, substances that mobilize energy resources peripherally will enhance feeding when administered centrally, and agents that promote energy storage will decrease feeding when administered centrally. The teleological advantage of a close linkage between the regulation of energy reserves and the activation of food-seeking behaviors in an organism is obvious.

In 1957 Schulman et al (56) demonstrated that glucagon decreased food intake in humans. The major site of action for glucagon's suppressive effects on feeding appears to be the liver. Glucagon antibodies enhance meal size and duration; therefore the effect of glucagon on feeding is most probably physiological (31). The satiety effect of glucagon is impaired by selective hepatic vagotomy (20).

To summarize, both glucagon and insulin appear to be physiological regulators of feeding and energy metabolism.

THE ILEUM AND SATIETY

Intestinal bypass surgery in humans is associated not only with weight loss secondary to malabsorption but also with a decrease in food intake (6). Jejunoileal bypass in obese rats has also been shown to reduce food intake (37). Atkinson & Brent (2) have noted that a factor with appetite suppressant activity appears in the serum of rats that have undergone intestinal bypass surgery. At present this factor is poorly characterized.

SATIETINS

Using human and rat blood, Knoll (29) partially purified long-acting anorectic glycoproteins with a molecular weight of 50,000. He named these substances satietin and satietin D. Although the onset of action by satietins is slow, the duration of action can extend to 48 h. Satietins produce their effects after both peripheral and central administration. These satietins possibly may play a role in the modulation of long-term food intake, and hyposatietinemia may affect some forms of obesity. The full characterization of the structures of the satietins will be necessary before the physiological role of these glycoproteins in the regulation of food intake can be determined.

INTERACTIONS

Peripheral Interactions

Hinton et al (27) reported that the combined administration of pancreatic glucagon, CCK-8, and bombesin produced a greater reduction in feeding than when any of these hormones were given alone. We have found that CCK-8, glucagon, and somatostatin (when administered in combination) have an additive effect on reducing food intake (A. J. Silver, J. F. Flood, and J. E. Morley, unpublished observations). On the other hand, the combination of CCK-8 and bombesin was invariably infra-additive, and somatostatin inhibited the effects of bombesin. Bombesin down-regulates CCK receptors (74), thus providing a possible explanation for the infra-additivity of CCK and bombesin. One can safely conclude that gastrointestinal hormones released from various levels of the gut during feeding act together in an additive manner that results in the termination of a meal.

Central and Peripheral System Interactions

In a series of pharmacological studies we have demonstrated that peripheral hormones can attenuate the feeding produced by centrally active neurotransmitters such as norepinephrine and dynorphin (see 42 for a review). Previously, we hypothesized that primitive organisms possess only a feeding drive. The evolution of an energy storage system allows the organism to develop a peripheral satiety system so that it can become a meal feeder. This hypothesis is supported by current studies demonstrating that peripheral gastrointestinal hormones can attenuate the central feeding drive.

GUT PEPTIDES AND ENERGY METABOLISM

While it is clear that gut peptides can limit the size of a single meal, there is little evidence that prolonged administration of gut peptides will cause weight

loss. Tolerance to the anorectic effects of CCK and bombesin develops rapidly after peripheral administration (4). This tolerance appears to be behavioral, rather than pharmacological, as CCK continues to decrease meal size, but the animals reduce the inter-meal interval to maintain food intake (72). Glucagon reduces food intake after a single meal, but when chronically administered it produces weight loss while actually increasing food intake (4). The weight loss produced by chronic glucagon administration appears to be secondary to activation of brown adipose tissue. A gut peptide that has no effect on food intake when administered peripherally is Peptide YY, a member of the pancreatic polypeptide family. Chronic administration of Peptide YY leads to weight loss (43). Peptide YY is present in the blood vessels associated with brown adipose tissue, and it may induce weight loss by acting synergistically with norepinephrine to activate brown adipose tissue.

It seems clear that gastrointestinal peptides not only play a role in the regulation of food intake but also modulate energy metabolism.

SUMMARY

A number of gastrointestinal hormones that are released from the gut in response to intraluminal food stuffs have been shown to play a role in producing satiety. Some of these hormones apparently activate ascending vagal fibers that send messages to the nucleus tractus solitarius, and perhaps from there messages are sent to the paraventricular nucleus of the hypothalamus. Not only do gastrointestinal hormones play a role in the termination of a meal but they also appear to modulate energy metabolism (at least in rodents) through the activation of brown adipose tissue.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The author thanks Sue Wheat for excellent editorial assistance. Original studies reported in this review were supported by a grant from the Department of Veterans Affairs.

Literature Cited

- Adrain, T. E., Bilchik, A. J., Zucker, K. A., Modlin, I. M. 1988. CCK receptor blockage increases hamster body weight and food intake. FASEB J. 2:A737 (Abstr.)
- Atkinson, R. L., Brent, E. L. 1982. Appetite suppressant activity in plasma of rats after intestinal bypass surgery. Am. J. Physiol. 243:R60-64
- Barbour, Ó. 1924. Observations on the use of insulin in non-diabetic children. Ill. Med. J. 4t:131-33
- Billington, C. J., Bartness, T. J., Briggs, J., Levine, A. S., Morley, J. E. 1987. Glucagon stimulation of brown adipose tissue growth and thermogenesis. Am. J. Physiol. 252:R160–65
- Billington, C. J., Levine, A. S., Morley, J. E. 1983. Are peptides truly satiety agents? A method of testing for neurohumoral satiety effects. Am. J. Physiol. 245:R920-26
- Bray, G. A., Barry, R. E., Benfield, J. R., Castelnuovo-Tedesco, P., Roden, J.

- 1976. Intestinal bypass surgery for obesity decreases food intake and taste preference. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* 29:779–83
- Cannon, W. B., Washburn, A. L. 1912. An explanation of hunger. Am. J. Physiol. 29:441–54
- Carlson, A. J. 1912. The Control of Hunger and Disease. Chicago: Univ. Chicago Press
- Christofides, N. D., Long, R. G., Fitzpatric, M. L., McGregor, G. P., Bloom, S. R. 1981. Effect of motilin on gastric emptying of glucose and fat in humans. *Gastroenterology* 80:456-60
- Crawley, J. N., Kiss, J. Z. 1985. Paraventricular nucleus lesions abolish the inhibition of feeding induced by systemic cholelcystokinin. *Peptides* 6:927–35
- Crawley, J. N., Kiss, J. Z., Mezey, E. 1984. Bilateral midbrain transections block the behavior effects of cholecystokinin on feeding and exploration in rats. *Brain Res.* 322:316-21
- Davis, J. D., Collins, B. J. 1978. Distention of the small intestines, satiety and the control of food intake. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 31:S255-58
- Davis, J. D., Gallagher, R. J., Ladove, R. F., Turausky, A. J. 1969. Inhibition of food intake by a humoral factor. J. Comp. Physiol. Psychol. 67:407-14
- Deutsch, J. A., Mokina, F., Puerto, A. 1976. Conditioned taste aversion caused by palatable nontoxic nutrients. *Behav. Biol.* 16:161-74
- Dyball, R. E., Koizumi, K. 1969. Electrical activity in the supraoptic and paraventricular nuclei associated with neurohypophysial hormone release. *J. Physiol.* 201:711–22
- Ehman, G. K., Albert, D. J., Jamieson, J. L. 1971. Injections into the duodenum and the induction of satiety in the rat. Can. J. Psychol. 25:147-66
- Ewart, W. R., Wingate, D. L. 1983. Cholecystokinin octapeptide and gastric mechanoreceptor activity in rat brain. Am. J. Physiol. 244:G613-17
- Flood, J. F., Morley, J. E. 1989. Cholecystokinin receptors mediate enhanced memory retention by feeding and gastrointestinal peptides. *Peptides* 10:809-13
- Flood, J. F., Smith, G. E., Morley, J. E. 1987. Modulation of memory processing by cholecystokinin: dependence on the vagus nerve. *Science* 236:832–34
- Geary, N., Smith, G. P. 1983. Selective hepatic vagotomy blocks pancreatic glucagon's satiety effect. *Physiol. Behav*. 31:391–94
- 21. Geracioti, T. D., Liddle, R. A. 1988.

- Impaired cholecystokinin secretion in bulimia nervosa. New Engl. J. Med. 319:683-88
- Gibbs, J., Fauser, D. J., Rowe, E. A., Rolls, B. J., Rolls, E. T., Maddison, S. P. 1979. Bombesin suppresses feeding in rats. *Nature* 282:208-10
- Gibbs, J., Smith, G. P. 1977. Cholecystokinin and satiety in rats and rhesus monkeys. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 30:758–
- Gibbs, J., Young, R. C., Smith, G. P. 1973. Cholecystokinin decreases food intake in rats. J. Comp. Physiol. Psychol. 84:488–95
- Glick, Z., Thomas, D. W., Mayer, J. 1971. Absence of effect of injections of the intestinal hormones secretin and cholecystokinin pancreozymin upon feeding behavior. *Physiol. Behav.* 6:5–
- Hanson, H., Strouse, J. 1987. Effects of the CCK antagonist, L-364,718, on food intake and of blockade of feeding produced by exogenous CCK in the rat. Fed. Proc 46:1480 (Abstr.)
- Hinton, V., Rosofsky, M., Granger, J., Geary, N. 1986. Combined injection potentiates the satiety effects of pancreatic glucagon cholecystokinin and bombesin. *Brain Res. Bull.* 17:615–19
- Janowitz, H. D., Grossman, M. I. 1949.
 Some factors affecting food intake of normal dogs and dogs with esophagostomy and gastric fistula. Am. J. Physiol. 159:143-48
- Knoll, J. 1985. Satietin, a blood-borne glycoprotein in the regulation of food intake. In *Endocoids*, ed. H. Lal, F. LaBella, J. Lane, pp. 515–19. New York: Liss
- Koopmans, H. S. 1981. The role of the gastrointestinal tract in the satiation of hunger. In The Body Weight Regulatory System: Normal and Disturbed Mechanisms, ed. L. A. Cioffi, W. P. T. James, T. B. Van Italie, pp. 45-55. New York: Raven
- Langhans, W., Zieger, U., Scharrer, E., Geary, N. 1982. Stimulation of feeding in rats by intraperitoneal injection of antibodies to glucagon. Science 218:894–96
- Lepkovsky, S., Bortfeld, P., Dimick, M. K., Feldman, S. E., Furuta, F., et al. 1971. Role of upper intestines in the regulation of food intake in parabiotic rats with their intestines "crossed" surgically. *Isr. J. Med. Sci.* 7:639–46
- Levine, A. S., Morley, J. E. 1982. Peripherally administered somatostatin reduces feeding by a vagal mediated

- mechanism. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 16:897-902
- Levine, A. S., Morley, J. E. 1983. The shortening pathways to appetite control. *Nutr. Today* 18:6-14
- Lotter, E. C., Krinsky, R., McKay, J. M., Treneer, C. M., Porter, D., Woods, S. C. 1981. Somatostatin decreases food intake in rats and baboons. J. Comp. Physiol. Psychol. 95:278-87
- MacLagan, N. F. 1937. The role of appetite in the control of body weight. J. Physiol. 90:385-94
- Madura, J. A., Csicsko, J. F., Cooney, D. R., Grosfeld, J. L. 1975. The "fatrat": a new experimental jejunoileal bypass model. J. Pediatr. Surg. 10:349– 52
- McHugh, P. R. 1979. Aspects of the control of feeding: application of quantitation in psychobiology. John Hopkins Med. J. 144:147-55
- Hopkins Med. J. 144:147-55
 39. McLaughlin, C. L., Peikin, S. R., Baile, C. A. 1983. Trypsin inhibitor effects on food intake and weight gain in Zucker rats. Physiol. Behav. 31:487-91
- Mitchell, J. E., Laine, D. E., Morley, J. E., Levine, A. S. 1986. Naloxone but not CCK-8 may attenuate binge-eating behavior in patients with the bulimia syndrome. *Biol. Psychiatr.* 21:1399–1406
- Morley, J. E. 1980. The neuroendocrine control of appetite: the role of the endogenous opiates, cholecystokinin, TRH, gamma-amino butyric acid and the diazepam receptor. *Life Sci.* 27:355– 68
- Morley, J. E. 1987. Neuropeptide regulation of appetite and weight. *Endocrine* Rev. 8:256–87
- Morley, J. E., Flood, J. F. 1987. An investigation of tolerance to the actions of leptogenic and anorexigenic drugs in mice. *Life Sci.* 41:2157–65
- Morley, J. E., Garvin, T. J., Pekary, A. E., Hershman, J. M. 1977. Thyrotropinreleasing hormone on the gastrointestinal tract. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Com*mun. 79:314-18
- Morley, J. E., Levine, A. S., Bartness, T. J., Nizielski, S. E., Shaw, M. J., Hughes, J. J. 1985. Species differences in the response to cholecystokinin. *Ann.* NY Acad. Sci. 488:413–16
- Morley, J. E., Levine, A. S., Kneip, J., Grace, M. 1982. The effect of vagotomy on the satiety effects of neuropeptides and naloxone. *Life Sci.* 30:1943–47
- Morley, J. E., Levine, A. S., Yamada, T., Gebhard, R. L., Prigge, W. F., et al. 1983. The effect of exorphins on gas-

- trointestinal function, hormonal release and appetite. *Gastroenterology* 84: 1517-23
- Morley, J. E., Silver, A. J. 1988. Anorexia in the elderly. *Neurobiol. Aging* 9:9-16
- Mutt, V., Jorpes, E. 1971. Hormonal polypeptides of the upper intestine. *Biochem. J.* 125:57P-58P
- Muurahainen, N. E., Kissileff, H. R., Thomton, J., Pi-Sunyer, F. X. 1983. Bombesin: another peptide that inhibits feeding in man. Soc. Neurosci. Abstr. 9:183
- Radna, R. J., MacLean, P. D. 1976. Effects of vagal volleys on unit activity of amygdala, hippocampus and corpus striatum in squirrel monkeys (Saimin sciareus). Neurosci Abstr. 2:374
- Ricardo, J. A., Koh, E. T. 1978. Anatomical evidence of direct projections from the nucleus of the solitary tract to the hypothalamus, amygdala and other forebrain structures in the rat. *Brain Res*. 153:1–26
- Ritter, R. C., Ladenheim, E. E. 1985. Capsaicin pretreatment attenuates suppression of food intake by cholecystokinin. Am. J. Physiol. 248:R501–4
- 54. Romsos, D. R., Gosnell, B. A., Morley, J. E., Levine, A. S. 1987. Effects of kappa opiate agonists, cholecystokinin and bombesin on intake of diets varying in carbohydrate to fat ratio in rats. *J. Nutr.* 117:976–85
- Schally, A. V., Redding, T. W., Lucien, H. W. 1967. Enterogastrone inhibits eating in fasted mice. *Science* 157:210-11
- Schulman, J. L., Carleton, J. L., Whitney, G., Whitehorn, J. C. 1957. Effect of glucagon on food intake and body weight in man. J. Appl. Physiol. 11:419-21
- Shafer, R. B., Levine, A. S., Marlette, J. M., Morley, J. E. 1985. Do calories, osmolality or calcium determine gastric emptying? Am. J. Physiol. 248:R479– 83
- Shafer, R. B., Levine, A. S., Marlette, J. M., Morley, J. E. 1987. Effects of xylitol on gastric emptying and food intake. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 45:744– 77
- Shaw, M. J., Hughes, J. J., Morley, J. E., Levine, A. S., Silvis, S. E., Shafer, R. B. 1985. Cholecystokinin octapeptide action on gastric emptying and food intake in normal and vagatomized man. *Ann. NY Acad. Sci.* 448:640-41
- 60. Shillabeer, G., Davison, J. S. 1984. The cholecystokinin antagonist, proglumide,

- increases food intake in the rat. Regul. Pept. 8:171-76
- Silver, A. J., Flood, J. F., Morley, J. E. 1988. Effect of gastrointestinal peptides on ingestion in old and young mice. Peptides 9:221-25
- Silver, A. J., Flood, J. F., Song, A. M., Morley, J. E. 1989. Evidence for a physiological role for CCK in the regulation of food intake in mice. Am. J. Physiol. 256:R646-52
- Sjodin, L. 1972. Influence of secretin and cholecystokinin on canine gastric secretion elicited by food and exogenous gastrin. Acta Physiol. Scand. 85:110– 17
- 64. Smith, G. P., Greenberg, D., Falusco, J. D., Gibbs, J., Liddie, R. A., Williams, J. A. 1985. Plasma levels of cholecystokinin produced by satiating doses of exogenous CCK-8. Proc. Soc. Neurosci. Abstr. 11:55
- Smith, G. P., Jerome, C., Cushin, B. J., Eterno, R., Simansky, K. J. 1981. Abdominal vagotomy blocks the satiety effect of cholecystokinin in the rat. Science 213:1036-77
- Smith, G. P., Jerome, C., Norgren, R. 1985. Afferent axons in abdominal vagus mediate satiety effect of cholecystokinin in rats. Am. J. Physiol. 249:R638-41
- Strubbe, J. H., Mein, C. G. 1977. Increased feeding in response to bilateral injections of insulin antibodies in the VMH. *Physiol. Behav.* 19:309–13

- Stuckey, J. A., Gibbs, J., Smith, G. P. 1985. Neural disconnection of gut from brain blocks bombesin-induced satiety. Peptides 6:1249-52
- Ugolev, A. M., Kassil, V. G. 1961. The physiology of appetite. *Usp. Sovrem*. *Biol*. 51:352-68
- van der Kooy, D. 1984. Area postrema: site where cholecystokinin acts to decrease food intake. *Brain Res*. 295:345– 47
- vanderWeele, D. A., Pi-Sunyer, F. X., Novin, D., Bush, M. J. 1989. Chronic insulin infusion suppresses food ingestion and body weight gain in rats. *Brain Res. Bull.* 5:7–14
- West, D. B., Fey, D., Woods, S. C. 1984. Cholecystokinin persistently suppresses meal size but not food intake in free-feeding rats. *Am. J. Physiol*. 246:R776-87
- Woods, S. C., Lotter, E. C., McKay, L. D., Porte, D. 1979. Chronic intracerebroventricular infusion of insulin reduces food intake and body weight of baboons. *Nature* 282:503–5
- Younes, M., Wank, S. A., Vinayek, R., Jensen, R. J., Gardner, J. D. 1989.
 Regulation of bombesin receptors on pancreatic acini by cholecystokinin. Am. J. Physiol. 256:G9291-98
- Zarbin, M. A., Wamsley, J. K., Innis, R. B., Kuhar, M. J. 1981. Cholecystokinin receptors: presence and axonal flow in the rat vagus nerve. *Life Sci.* 29:697-705